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WATERS, WETLANDS, COASTAL 
REGULATIONS AND COMPLIANCE 

WHAT ARE “WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES”?

IN 2014 WE WERE TOLD

“THIS TIME IT’S CLEAR!” 

REALLY! BUT WE FOUND THAT NOT TO BE TRUE! 

IN 2015 WE WERE TOLD 

“THIS IS THE FINAL RULE . . . FOR CLARITY!” – WRONG” 

IN 2016-2018 WE WERE TOLD 

“GO BACK TO PRE-2015 WHEN IT WAS CLEAR!” 

IN 2020 – WE HAD . . . THE

“NAVIGABLE WATERS PROTECTION RULE”→VACATED IN 2021! 

AND REPLACED BY NEW PROPOSED RULE PUBLISHED DECEMBER 2021
(AGAIN – “GO BACK TO PRE-2015”!)

“IN 2022 . . . WHAT NOW?!” 

A. GENERAL COMMENTS.

1. Duties; Responsibilities; Expectations.  As a real estate lawyer, real estate 
broker, agent, owner, developer, contractor, consultant, or surveyor, or even someone 
working for a regulatory agency, you are expected to know and advise clients to always 
maintain their property and work in full compliance with any law, regulation, rule, internal 
memo, ordinance, permit, permit conditions, approval, license, etc., that may exist (whether 
you know about it or not).  You are also expected to process all the changes and trust the 
personal, political and subjective feelings of the “government.”  This includes all the 
internal memos (regulatory guidance), directives, and evolving interpretations and “wish 
lists” made along the way.   

You are expected to provide competent, knowledgeable, legal and up-to-date advice 
to your client, customer or to the applicant.  How you do this is critical, but so is the way 
some of the rules are “made up” or changed without notice, or with notice but without 
emphasis or attention to the importance of the changes, or how they are or will be applied 
or interpreted.   

Knowing the rules, regulations and people is not enough.  You must be part of the 
constantly changing processes.  The practice of real estate law in coastal Alabama is in 
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constant motion and begs for innovation, creativity, initiative and flexibility . . . AND an 
online presence or social distancing!  Real estate issues include water, wetlands, coastal 
resources, protected species (animals, reptiles, fish, birds, plants), beaches and dunes, 
infrastructure, etc. 

We are unable to describe all of the changes, differences, and/or the status of the 
next round interpretations, guidance and lawsuits, but we have provided some of those 
matters that should be of interest to you to illustrate the dynamics of water, coastal and 
natural resources, wetlands interpretations, clarity issues, and problems of compliance and 
enforcement of environmental laws.   

“Here we go again” is the simple phrase that involves that constant change and 
innovation of the economy, personalities, interpretations, politics and you, especially since 
we thought all of this (“WOTUS”) was “cleared up” in 2014!?! . . . no wait . . . it was 
CLEARER in 2015!?!, but then in 2016, 2017 and 2018 . . . then in 2020 with the Final 
Rule (Navigable Waters Protection Rule) which turned out not to be Final and was vacated 
on August 30, 2021, by the federal district court in Arizona in Pascua Yaqui Tribe v. EPA, 
No. 20-00266 (D. Ariz. Aug. 30, 2021). . . and then, thank goodness, in November 2021 
EPA and the Corps issued a NEW proposed WOTUS Rule which was published in 86 FR 
69372 on December 7, 2021.  The “New” Rule has not yet been finalized, but was drafted 
to again revise the definition of “Waters of the United States” (“WOTUS”) by “going back” 
again to “pre-2015 rules.”   

We are in the cycle of numerous Presidential Executive Orders directed to address 
environmental and climate (i.e., real estate) issues, numerous changes to the Clean Water 
Act § 404 regulations pertaining to dredge and fill activities in “Waters of the United States” 
(“WOTUS”) as well as new definitions of regulated jurisdictional waters and wetlands, changes 
to water quality certifications (CWA § 401 [See 85 Fed. Reg. 42210 (July 13, 2020)]), and 
reissuance of certain NWPs by Final Rule January 13, 2021 (effective March 15, 2021, to March 
14, 2026), and the Alabama General Permits for Minor Structures (issued and effective October 1, 
2021, expiring October 1, 2026).   

2. Property . . . Aquatic Features and Baseline Conditions (Prior and 
Existing) . . . and . . . WHAT Now?!  We have provided several additional attachments to 
emphasize the importance and complexity of the dynamic issues involving real property and 
“Water.” 

(a) Article by Neil Johnston (Sr.) – “Liquid Real Estate Coast-to-Coast – 
Wet & Wild” Presented to American College of Real Estate Lawyers 
(“ACREL”).  This article is even more relevant today with emphasis on 
water and constant change.  [Tab 2]
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3. Real Estate Contracts / Disclosures / Due Diligence / Prior and Existing 
Site Conditions.  

(a) Should the Seller Make Specific Disclosures of Certain Features Such As 

(i) Wetlands [See “Addendum W-Wetlands” to the Offer to 
Purchase/Lease Form (2008) by the Wisconsin Realtors Association] 
[Tab 5-A]; 

(ii) Lead, Radon, Asbestos; 

(iii) Easements, Covenants, Declarations; 

(iv) Climate Change – Sea Level Rise, and Higher “High Tides;” 

(v) Flooding, Nuisance Flooding, Storm Surge; 

(vi) Permits and Violations.   

(b) Disclosure of Flood History, Flood Risks, Sea Level Rise.  [See Hawaii 
Revised Statutes – “Mandatory Seller Disclosure in Real Estate Transactions 
Law” – 2021 § 508D-15.]  [Tab 5-B]

(c) Disclosure of Conditions of Groundwater.  [See ASTM International 
E1527-21.]   [Tab 4]

4. What About Title Insurance and Schedule B II Exceptions to Title 
Insurance Coverage?  Water, wetlands, riparian rights, tidal lands, submerged lands, and 
lands that have experienced accretion, reliction, or avulsive events are favorite exceptions 
to title insurance coverage by title companies.  However, rarely will you see only one 
exception listed.     

(a) Wetlands and Title to Real Property.  The existence of wetlands or other 
aquatic resources on real property, or a “conditions or features of the real 
property” do not affect the title to the real property; however, the “uses” and 
“values” of the real property may be affected by the presence or absence of 
jurisdictional or non-jurisdictional wetlands or other aquatic resources.  

(b) Exceptions to Title.  Title insurance companies have issued title 
commitments, reports, and title insurance policies including requirements 
and exceptions to “title” attempting to describe and address wetlands, tidally 
influenced properties and riparian rights.   

In many reports, commitments and policies, it is common to see several 
exceptions to title insurance coverage with language similar to the following: 
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[NOTE:  The following seven Exceptions actually appeared in one title 
commitment until lengthy objections were submitted to the title 
insurance underwriter.]

“(1) Any adverse claim based on the assumption that (1) said 
land or any part thereof is now or at any time has been below 
the ordinary high water mark of River or Bay; (2) some 
portion of the land has been created by artificial means or 
has accreted to such artificially created portion; or (3) some 
portion of the land has attached to the land by an avulsive 
movement of River or Bay.” 

“(2) Any portion of the land described in Schedule A which may 
constitute wetlands or tidelands and any restriction on use or 
development arising out of a determination that the land, or 
some portion thereof, may be subject to provisions of the 
Alabama Coastal Preservation Statutes, or any other 
governmental authority.” 

“(3) Rights of the United States, State of Alabama, or other 
parties in and to the bed, shore and waters of Bay, River, 
Bayou and all other unnamed lakes and waterways located 
within the boundaries of the property described in Schedule 
‘A’.  The policy to be issued pursuant hereto will insure only 
such riparian and littoral rights as legally accrue by reason 
of ownership in fee simple of property adjoining.”  

“(4) Any portion of subject property which may be affected by 
accretion, reliction, erosion and avulsion.”  

“(5) This policy, when issued, will not insure against the rights 
of other parties in and to any drainage canals or sloughs that 
may traverse the property described in Schedule ‘A’.” 

“(6) No title is insured to any portion of land lying below the 
mean high water line of River or Bay as it existed in 
December 1819 or such other location of the mean high 
water line as may have subsequently existed further upland.” 

“(7) The rights, if any, of the public to use as a public beach or 
recreation area any part of the land lying between the Bay 
abutting the property described in Schedule A and the 
natural line of vegetation, the bulkhead line, the most 
extreme high water line or any other legally established 
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boundary line separating the publicly used area from the 
upland private area.” 

As another example, the following four exceptions appeared in another title 
commitment:   

“. . .  This policy . . . will include the following Exceptions . . .: 

(i) Rights of other parties, the United States of America or 
State of Alabama, in and to the shore, littoral or riparian 
rights to the property described in Schedule ‘A’ lying 
adjacent to creek. 

(ii) This policy does not insure any of the lands described 
in Schedule ‘A’ that would be below mean high tide. 

(iii) All rights of the United States Government and the State 
of Alabama in and to the navigable waters and the land 
beneath any of the navigable waters within the property 
described in this title policy, and all rights of the United 
States Government and of the State of Alabama in and 
to any of the lands described that may be on or below 
mean high tide. 

(iv) Terms, conditions, provisions and restrictions of all 
permits and licenses of Federal, State and local 
government, including applicable agencies and 
departments and private and quasi governmental 
agencies having jurisdiction over the real property, 
including but not limited to restrictions on construction 
of any areas delineated by government agencies as 
wetlands.”  

(c) See McMaster v. Strickland, 409 S.E.2d 440 (Court of Appeals, S.C. 
1991).  Title, marketability and title insurability are not affected by the 
presence of wet areas or wetlands on the owner’s real property.  Wet 
areas or wetlands may affect the use or value of the property, but not the title, 
and not the marketable title, and not the insurability for title insurance 
purposes.  

Question:  Why, then, do title insurance companies continue to include 
exceptions or disclaimers for wetlands if wetlands do not affect title, 
marketable title or the insurability of title?   

Example of a Wetlands “Schedule B II” Exception:   
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“Any portion of the land described in Schedule ‘A’ which 
may constitute wetlands or tidelands and any restriction on 
use or development arising out of a determination that the 
land, or same (sic) portion thereof, may be subject to 
provisions of the Alabama Coastal Preservation 
Statutes (sic), or any other governmental authority.” 

(d) Objections to Exceptions and Underwriter’s Response.  

(i) Objections.  Attached as Tab 3-A are certain objections to these types 
of exceptions I have made and submitted many times to attorneys 
representing the “other” party, and attorneys for title companies, in 
response to title commitments and title insurance policies issued.  
Rarely will a title commitment only have one exception.  Most of the 
time, three or more wetlands, tidal and riparian exceptions appear as 
shown by paragraph 3(b) above.   

(ii) Underwriter’s Response.  However, I did receive some supporting 
comments from a title underwriter’s legal department that are described 
on the attached Tab 3-B. 

5. What Are Jurisdictional Wetlands?  . . .  Anybody?

B. COMPLIANCE / ENFORCEMENT. 

1. Questions. 

How do you know if you have a regulated activity requiring a permit or subject 
to special requirements?   

How do you know if you have wetlands (“really”), jurisdictional wetlands, or 
if the property is subject to an existing permit, or contains mitigation or restricted 
lands, or has an existing violation and may be subject to a regulatory enforcement 
action?   

Buying, selling, developing or just owning real estate is much more complicated 
than “just doing it.” 

How do you determine if you need one or more “Wetlands” or “Coastal” 
permits, certificates or approvals? 

(a) Search and maintain records.  (What records?!)  
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(i) Owner’s records (including title documents, tax records, Revenue 
Commissioner’s records, plans, surveys, aerials, reports, permits, 
electronic documents); 

(ii) County Probate Court records – www.baldwincountyal.gov; 
www.mobilecountyal.gov; and Baldwin County Commission 
records through the “new” Citizenserve Online Portal – 
https://baldwincountyal.nextrequest.com; 

(iii) State records such as  www.ADEM.state.al.us; 
www.OGB.state.al.us;  www.gsa.state.al.us; ADCNR – 
https://lands.dcnr-alabama.gov; 

(iv) Federal records such as www.EPA.gov; 
www.sam.USACE.army.mil/; www.USFS.gov; www.FEMA.gov; 
www.NOAA.gov

(v) Other records may be obtained by written request to the Agency:  

Federal requests are made pursuant to the Freedom of Information 
Act (“FOIA”) www.FOIA.gov, and 

State and Local requests are best made by reviewing the online 
procedures and using the online request forms on the particular 
agency website if the records are not readily accessible or publicly 
available online.  (See Ala. Open Records Act – Ala. Code § 36-
12-40)

(b) Inspect, delineate, survey and assess the surfaces and subsurfaces of the 
property.  [NOTE:  EPA amended the “Standards and Practices for All 
Appropriate Inquiries” on March 13, 2022, to update and reference 
ASTM International’s E1527-21 “Standard Practice for Environmental 
Site Assessments:  Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment Process.”]  
[Tab 4]

(c) Investigate (i) whether any activity on the property was required to have one 
or more permits, licenses or approvals, and determine the type; (ii) determine 
if any violations exist (and have been resolved); (iii) the compliance history; 
and (iv) review the permit, determine the present status of compliance, 
review the records, and review the notice (and transfer) requirements.   

(d) Transfer the Permit.  If the property has or had one or more permits, 
licenses or approvals, (i) obtain a copy; (ii) determine the status (what was 
permitted; (iii) what was the permitted activity, (iv) was the activity 
accomplished and completed (and was the activity and permit matters you 
wish to have?); and (v) require and have the permits, licenses and approvals 
transferred and assigned as part of the transaction if such are transferable.   

http://www.sam.usace.army.mil/
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(e) If a violation exists, or a prior violation exists, determine who is or was 
liable, and if the violation should have been or should be or can be resolved 
and cured.  Who has the duty (if any exists) to disclose the violation or give 
notice to “the agency?” 

(f) Determine if the laws, regulations and permit (and conditions) have changed 
since the permit was originally issued, and if any new requirements now 
affect the title or use of the property. 

(g) ATF [Not “WTF”].  If no permits, licenses or approvals exist but activity 
requiring a permit was conducted without a permit, can an “after-the-fact” 
permit be obtained?  (For CWA § 404 permits – 
See ATF Permit Procedures:  33 CFR § 326.3(a); 
https://www.mvn.usace.army.mil/Portals/56/docs/regulatory/Enforcem
entOverview.pdf.) 

(h) Mitigation.  If wetlands, streams or other mitigation is required, determine 
the extent of the mitigation required, the cost of onsite mitigation or off-site 
purchase of mitigation bank credits, and locate a wetlands, streams or other 
mitigation bank (such as the Hell’s Swamp Mitigation Bank in Mobile 
County) or some alternative in the property’s watershed or proximity.   

If the wetland mitigation has already occurred onsite or mitigation bank 
credits are required or have been purchased,  

(i) obtain all records and evidence from the property owner; 

(ii) transfer the permit properly and the mitigation approval and certificate 
of purchased bank credits; 

(iii) check and confirm the Corps was notified of the transfer;  

(iv) confirm that the authorized (permitted) work was completed, 
mitigated, and is in full compliance; or  

(v) determine what, if anything, needs to be done.   

If onsite mitigation was required, confirm all mitigation accomplished is 
still in existence and successful, all required monitoring and reports have 
been made, and no additional mitigation activity or cost is necessary.  
[NOTE:  Onsite mitigation may also restrict development and use of that 
part of the property.]

(i) If I obtain a CWA § 404 permit from the Corps and invest capital, 
begin work and comply, can my permit be revoked and my work be 



8037164.1 9 

ordered removed? [See, Mingo Logan Coal Co. v. EPA, 714 F.3d 608 
(D.C.C.A., 2013), cert. denied March 24, 2014.] 

(ii) If the property has onsite dedicated/restricted mitigation areas 
(wetland restoration, preservation or wetland creation), can I move, 
relocate or substitute other areas as the mitigation site, or obtain a 
permit to fill some or all of the existing mitigation site? 

2. Examples of Compliance Issues. 

(a) “Trust Me.”  Contractor you hire assures you “Trust me (and pay me now).  
I have all the permits you need.”   

(b) Transfer the Problem.  Developer conveys stormwater, detention pond and 
liability to POA in subdivision.  Developer’s engineer, using local 
stormwater requirements, designs a detention pond and capacity that 
realistically could not handle the amount and force of stormwater from the 
design watershed AND from other adjacent areas.  The detention pond was 
breached almost after each rain event, causing substantial runoff and erosion 
to occur on the downhill neighbor’s property, and resulting in substantial 
sedimentation in the stream and hardwood bottoms on the neighbors’ 
properties.. 

(c) Environmental Covenants / Restrictions / Conservation Easements.  All 
or a portion of the property is encumbered by statutory, state or federal 
environmental covenants, restrictions, conservation easements, or is an 
existing mitigation site. 

(d) Past Wetlands Violations. Property does have wetlands, sensitive areas, 
cultural sites, endangered species; however, some of the wet/aquatic sites on 
the property were filled without a permit many years ago.   

What is the status of the fill, restoration and mitigation; was the violation 
resolved and case closed; does the purchaser inherit the problems?   

(e) Permits Issued in the Past, Activities Took Place, But Were the Activities 
in Compliance With the Permit Terms? Property has been permitted in 
the past or is subject to permit conditions not yet fulfilled. 

(f) Consultant, representing your client (landowner/developer), delineated 
wetlands boundaries by placing flags at each interval along the edge 
between the upland/wetland boundaries.  Surveyor, using the consultant’s 
flags and plot points, provides a survey.  What can go wrong? 
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(i) Corps grants permit, but other agency requirements/conditions require 
applications for approval, consent, certifications, and may involve 
extensive administrative proceedings. 

(ii) Consultant failed to use current wetlands delineation procedures, or 
made conservative or biased judgment call regarding locations, failed 
to delineate all of the property (may cause delay in obtaining 
approvals). 

(iii) Wetlands delineation conducted but no jurisdictional determination 
(“JD”) requested or issued; or if the JD was requested and issued but, 
no permitted activity is conducted, and jurisdictional determination 
expires. 

(iv) Wetlands and Streams Mitigation Banks in your watershed runs out 
of wetlands or streams mitigation credits totally or the type credits 
required. 

(v) Consultant or Corps conducts the Wetlands Rapid Assessment 
Procedure (“WRAP”) to determine the functional value of the 
wetlands, streams or both to be filled, and (possibly subjectively) 
determines very high values and functions, requiring many more 
mitigation credits. 

(vi) Client’s project fails to comply with ADEM’s Coastal Regulations 
(“ACAMP”) or local wetland ordinances.   

(g) Governmental Agency – Should you question what the agency tells you?   
‒ filling coastal wetlands 
‒ building pile-supported structures on restricted 

area 
‒ filling wetlands on prior/existing mitigation 

wetlands sites 

(h) Are government agencies also required to apply for and obtain permits, 
and comply with permit conditions?  Yes. 

3. 2021 Nationwide Permits (“NWPs”) Issued March 15, 2021, and 
February 22, 2022, Effective Until March 14, 2026. 

(a) Reissued NWPs.   

(i) Sixteen of the 2021 Final NWPs were described and published in 86 
FR 2744 (January 13, 2021), effective March 15, 2021; and 40 NWPs 
were reissued and one NEW NWP issued by Final Rule dated 
December 27, 2021, as described and published in 86 FR 73522 with 
an effective date of February 22, 2022.  There are General Conditions 
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for each NWP as well as state water quality and coastal consistency 
conditions.  

The 2021 NWPs are effective for a 5 year period expiring March 14, 
2026, replacing the 2017 Nationwide Permits which recently expired.   

Numerous modifications, changes, limits, NEW 2021 “clarity,” 
“clarifying” language, and NEW NWPs were issued.   

Each NWP, before being publicly advertised, proposed and published 
for Public Comments, undergoes extensive review, comment and 
study during the reissuance process that results in hundreds of pages 
of a record, a “Final Decision” document, and others.  General 
Conditions and Regional Conditions, prohibitions and restrictions are 
also added to the package.  These documents can be and should be 
reviewed. [See
https://www.sam.usace.army.mil/missions/regulatory/nwp.aspx] 

(ii) General and Regional NWP Conditions.  The 2021 NWPs also have 
General Permit Conditions, as well as ADEM CWA § 401 Water 
Quality Conditions and ADEM Coastal Consistency Conditions.  

4. Regional General Permits for Minor Structures and Activities in 
Alabama (Issued/Effective October 1, 2021, Until October 1, 2026).  [Tab 9]

(i) Alabama –Regional General Permits for Minor Structures and 
Activities Within the State of Alabama Located Within the 
Boundaries of the Mobile District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
proposed June 3, 2021, reauthorized and effective October 1, 2021, to 
expire October 1, 2026 (five years).  [See
https://www.sam.usace.army.mil/Portals/46/docs/regulatory/pub
lic_notices/Special%20Public%20Notice%20-
%20Alabama%20General%20Permit%20Reissuance%202021.
pdf] 

(ii) ADEM and ADCNR Special Conditions and General Conditions 
are described after each permit. 

5. County and Municipal Ordinances.  

(i) Baldwin County Zoning Ordinance.

 Section 2.3.25   Planning District 25 (Fort Morgan) 
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 Section 2.3.25.3(f) Dune Walkovers (New) [See Excerpt Tab
6-A]

 Section 2.3.25.3(g) Planning & Zoning Considerations in the 
Coastal High Hazard Areas and Flood Hazard Areas in 
Planning District 25 (Fort Morgan)  [See Excerpts Tab
6-B]

 Section 12.6 Coastal Areas  [See Excerpts Tab 6-C]

(ii) ADEM MOA with Baldwin County Commission Delegating 
Management and Permitting Authority Regarding “Activities on 
Beaches and Dunes” [Tab 7] and the Resulting Baldwin County 
Coastal Area Program Ordinance – Resolution # 2015-011   
[Tab 7-A]

 “Establishing Beach and Dune Protection and Management 
Regulations for Baldwin County, Alabama”   

(iii) Baldwin County Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance (effective 
April 19, 2019) 

 See Section F, Page 17 – Coastal High Hazard Flood Areas 
(Coastal “V” Zones and Coastal “AE” Zones)  [See Excerpt 
Tab 8]
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Neil C. Johnston (Sr.), Esq
HAND ARENDALL HARRISON SALE LLC

Merchants Plaza
104 St. Francis Street, 3rd Floor

Mobile, AL  36602
251-432-5511

njohnston@handfirm.com

June 16, 2022

Mobile Area Association of Realtors

Sponsored By:

 Alabama Coastal Foundation
 Alabama Department of 

Environmental Management, Mobile 
Branch – Coastal Section

 Baldwin County Association of Realtors
 Hand Arendall Harrison Sale LLC
 Mobile Area Association of Realtors
 National Oceanic and Atmospheric 

Administration
 Weeks Bay National Estuarine 

Research Reserve
 Alabama Department of 

Conservation and Natural 
Resources-State Lands Division



1. Definitions

a) Waters of the United States (WOTUS)
2021 – New – Proposed Final Rule / Definition of “Waters of 
the United States,” 86 FR 69372, December 7, 2021

b) Waters of the State – Ala. Code § 9-10B-3, § 9-11-80, 
§ 33-5-3(a)
i. Coastal Waters – Ala. Code § 9-7-10
ii. ADEM Admin. Code Reg. 335-8 (Alabama Coastal Area 

Management Program – ACAMP)  – [Local Delegation 
of Authority – Baldwin County Coastal Area Program 
Resolution #2015-011]

iii. ADCNR “State Owned Submerged Lands” Admin. Code 
Reg. 220-4-.09

WETLANDS, WATER AND COASTAL ISSUES

NEW



WETLANDS, WATER AND COASTAL ISSUES

(cont’d)

2. Agencies

Federal
▪ U. S. Army Corps of Engineers
▪ EPA                                                        
▪ USFWS                                                    
▪ NOAA / OCRM
▪ U. S. Coast Guard

State Local
▪ ADEM ▪ Baldwin County
▪ ADCNR ▪ Municipalities
▪ NRCS                                      ▪ Watershed     
▪ State Docks                          ▪ Planning & Zoning 
▪ SHPO ▪ Coastal Programs



Navigable Waters
• 1899 Rivers and Harbors Act, Section 10; 33 USC § 403
• Clean Water Act § 404(a)
• 33 USC § 1344 (a) [No discharge of dredged or fill to “navigable waters” without a permit]
• 33 CFR § 329

“Waters of the United States”
• Clean Water Act § 502 (7)
• 33 USC § 1362 (7) [‘navigable waters” are “The Waters of the United States, including 

Territorial Seas.”]
• 33 CFR § 3289

Jurisdictional Issues



Cases

• 1870: The Daniel Ball, 77 U.S. 557, 1870 WL 12737 (1870) – RHA case- Jurisdiction over 
traditional navigable waters used in interstate commerce

• 1975: NRDC v. Callaway, 392 F. Supp. 685 (D.D.C. 1975) – Court ordered  expansion of 
jurisdiction to “other waters” beyond traditional “Navigable waters”

• 1984: National Wildlife Federation v. Marsh, 14 ENVTL L. Rep.  20262 (D.D.C., Feb. 10, 
1984) – Expansion to cover headwaters and areas above headwaters  greater than 10  
acres

• 1985: U.S. vs. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc. , 474 U.S. 121 (1985),  Expansion re: 
adjacent wetlands (but did not decide the issue of isolated wetlands)

• 2001: Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County vs. U.S.  Army Corps of Engs, 531 
U.S. 159 (2001) – Limitation re: interstate commerce, migratory birds, significant  
nexus

• 2006: Rapanos v. U.S., 547 US 715 (2006)  - Limitation regarding navigable waters,  
waters of the U.S. , significant nexus, ecological factors

• 2011:  Precon Development Corp. vs. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, U.S. Court of Appeals, 
Fourth  Circuit, Case No. 09-2239 (Jan 25 2011)

• U.S. vs. Donovan, 661 F.3d 174 (3rd Cir. 2011)

• 2012:  Sackett v. EPA, 132 S.Ct. 1367 (2012)



Guidance Documents 

2003 Joint Memorandum regarding SWANCC, 68 Fed Reg. 1995 (2003)
(See www.epa.gov/owow/wetlands/SWANCCNav.html )   How to 
interpret interstate commerce requirements, how to determine isolated  
wetlands, and 

2008 “Clean Water Act Jurisdiction following the U.S. Supreme Court’s
Decision in Rapanos v. U.S. & Carabell vs. United States”

2011 “EPA and Army Corps of Engineers Guidance regarding    
Identification of Waters Protected by the Clean Water Act.”   (“Proposed”)

http://www.epa.gov/owow/wetlands/swaneeNav.html


WETLANDS AND AQUATIC RESOURCES – DUE DILIGENCE

o On-site conditions (Surface/Subsurface)
o Surrounding Conditions (Water)

o Wetlands / Aquatic Resources (Water)
o Environmentally Sensitive Areas (Water



● Historical background information from Corps / other
agencies (FOIA, State documents request)

● Names of predecessors / title documents, restrictions, local
requirements

● Regulatory history / compliance and resolution of
violations

● Reports / monitoring history

● Consultants – Wetland delineations

– Corps verification /determinations

– WRAP / history

● Aerials – successive years

● Surrounding developments



1) ACCESS to a Public Road; ACCESS to Intracoastal Waterway
Navigable Waters – Determine, Confirm and “INSURE” – ALTA
Endorsement)

2) SUBDIVISION / PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION AND COMMON

AREAS “Beware of the Existing Liabilities”

● EXAMPLE – Retention Pond

3) PIPELINE / POWERLINE EASEMENTS “Beware of Ancient Pipelines
and Powerline Easements”

4) RIPARIAN / LITTORAL RIGHTS “High Tide Line” “Ordinary High
Waters”

5) WETLANDS / AQUATIC SITES – May Affect Use Not Title or
Marketable Title

6) CANALS / EXCAVATED UPLANDS / FLOODING OR FLOWAGE

EASEMENT



TRANSFER OF 200 ACRES OF CONTIGUOUS

PARCELS THAT CONTAINED:SALT MARSH

BAYS/BEACHES

FORESTED 
AREAS

 Several streams, and stream 
fed manmade lakes

 Mobile Bay frontage

 Frontage along Old Fowl 
River

 A named bayou

 Several canals excavated 
prior to 1968, and certain 
wetland areas filled prior to 
1972

 Other wet and aquatic sitesWETLANDS

LAKES/PONDS



TITLE MARKETABLE – Used Statutory Warranty Deed with 
numerous limitations of warranties of title

TITLE COMMITMENT – numerous exceptions 

o Erroneous references

o Redundant / overlapping exceptions

o Wrong terminology used by title company



Although we represented the Seller – we examined
the 64 exceptions and found a number of them did
not affect or apply to the particular parcels to be
sold and those general exceptions to riparian,
water, tidal, wetland and environmental matters
were redundant and objectionable.



OBJECTIONS









EXCEPTIONS



RESPONSE BY

UNDERWRITER FOR

TITLE COMPANY



● 1932 “Foley Land Cut” – Easement granted January 9, 1932 by
Easement Deed from Intracoastal Land Company, Inc. to the United
States of America, recorded in Deed Book 52, Pages 327, et seq.,
Baldwin County Probate Court Records

● U.S. Army Corps of Engineers then excavated uplands to create a
portion of the Gulf Intracoastal Waterway connecting Oyster Bay
on the west to the east side of Wolf Bay

EXCAVATED UPLANDS – CANALS / FLOWAGE EASEMENTS



ACCESS TO

A PUBLIC ROAD

ACCESS TO

NAVIGABLE WATERS



● Tract of Land – i.e., 20 contiguous acres

● 3 acres of 1-2 acres delineated as jurisdictional wetlands

● Tract Subdivided – 5 lots of 4 acres each

● CWA § 404 Permit issued to fill 2 acres of wetlands on Lots
4 and 5 preserving wetlands on Lots 1-3 to be “Deed
Restricted” –

● New owner negotiates release/relocation of restricted
wetland areas





2013 2015

20162015





As our partners have grown and diversified, we have grown and
diversified. We take great pride in our services provided to our
clients affecting our coastal and natural resources of the Gulf Coast,
and to the consulting community and the regulatory community.

“No representation is made that the quality of the legal services to be
performed is greater than the quality of legal services performed by other
lawyers.”

Firm Contact: 

Neil C. Johnston (Sr.) , Esq.
251-694-6247
njohnston@handfirm.com
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